          1

          2  CITY COUNCIL

          3

             CITY OF NEW YORK

          4

             -------------------------------x

          5

             THE TRANSCRIPT OF THE MINUTES

          6

                       of the

          7

             COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS,

          8  LIBRARIES And INTERNATIONAL

             INTERGROUP RELATIONS

          9

             -------------------------------x

         10

         11                 November 18, 2005

                            Start:  11:17 a.m.

         12                 Recess: 1:15 p.m.

         13                 City Hall

                            Council Chambers

         14                 New York, New York

         15

                  B E F O R E:

         16

                         DOMENIC RECCHIA

         17                                Chairperson,

         18

                         COUNCIL MEMBERS:   Eric Gioia

         19                                 David Weprin

                                            Charles Barron

         20                                 Simcha Felder

                                            Yvette Clarke

         21

         22

         23

         24       LEGAL-EASE COURT REPORTING SERVICES, INC.

                         17 Battery Place -  Suite 1308

         25              New York, New York 10004

                              (800) 756-3410

                                                            2

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S

          3

             William C. Thompson, Jr.

          4  Comptroller

             Office of the New York City Comptroller

          5

             Marty Markowitz

          6  Brooklyn Borough President

          7  Herbert Daughtry

             Minster

          8  The House of The Lord Church

          9  Clarence Thomas

             Million Worker March Movement

         10

             Nana Soul

         11  Artists and Activists United for Peach, The Ghetto

             Chronicles, TONC

         12

             Michael Hardy

         13  General Counsel

             National Action Network

         14

             Larry Holmes

         15  Rosa Parks 50th Anniversary Committee

             Troops Out Now Coalition

         16

             Nellie Hester Bailey

         17  Executive Director

             Harlem Tenants Council

         18

             Lelani Dowell

         19  National Coordinator

             FIST-Fight Imperialism, Stand Together

         20

             Dustin Langley

         21  Troops Out Now Coalition

         22  Mia Cruz

             FIST-Fight Imperialism, Stand Together

         23

             Monica Moorehead

         24  Member

             Rosa Parks 50th Anniversary Coalition

         25

                                                            3

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S (CONTINUED)

          3

             Geoffery Blank

          4  Founder and President

             No Police State Coalition

          5

             Erik-Anders Nilsson

          6  Member

             Troops Out Now Coalition and Jersey City

          7  Peace Movement

          8  Denise Outram

             Representing Manhattan Borough President

          9  Virginia Fields

         10

         11

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            4

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Good morning,

          3  ladies and gentlemen. I'm Council Member Domenic M.

          4  Recchia, Jr. I'm Chair of the Cultural Affairs

          5  Committee and I welcome you all to the Council

          6  Chambers at the City Hall.

          7                 It is with great pride that I welcome

          8  you to this important hearing to consider Resolution

          9  No. 1240. We will be hearing from a number of

         10  witnesses and voting on this resolution today. This

         11  is a resolution commemorating the life and mourning

         12  the loss of Rosa Parks, an icon of the civil rights

         13  movement whose brave act of refusing to give up her

         14  seat on an Alabama bus in 1955 led to the end of

         15  legalized segregation in the United States.

         16                 This resolution further declares that

         17  December 1, shall annually be observed as Rosa Parks

         18  Commemoration Day in New York City and it encourages

         19  all businesses in the City, both public and private,

         20  to either close on December 1 or allow the many

         21  workers and students in the City who will want to

         22  attend Rosa Parks Commemoration events taking place

         23  during normal business hours, to take the day off,

         24  or leave work and school early with impunity. We are

         25  also recommending that all schools in New York City
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          2  teach curriculum that day dealing with Rosa Parks

          3  and her life and the story of this wonderful lady.

          4                 Rosa Parks was one of the America's

          5  leading fighters for civil rights. Her exemplary

          6  strength and courage is an inspiration to all who

          7  continue to fight for a more just and equal world.

          8  The dedicated individuals throughout the world who

          9  today are continuing Rosa Park's immortal struggle

         10  to protect the rights of every man, woman and child

         11  of the greatest possible memorial to this

         12  extraordinary woman. At this time, I would like to

         13  introduce my colleagues that are present here today

         14  and the sponsors of the resolution. I would ask them

         15  if they would like to make an opening statement.

         16  First my colleague, Charles Barron.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you,

         18  Chairman Recchia. I want to thank you so much for

         19  having a very, very timely hearing and for you

         20  expediting this. I want to say this and I know that

         21  you usually say don't give hand claps at hearings

         22  because we have to be very well behaved and do the

         23  right things. But Domenic deserves a hand clap

         24  because he really rushed this for us and he was as

         25  excited about this as I was. And I'm like a little
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          2  boy when I get something that it is very exciting. I

          3  want to thank you so much. Then my colleague, Yvette

          4  Clarke, who really came to the occasion and put

          5  something in as well and for the people in the City

          6  Council that realize the significance of Rosa Parks.

          7                 This is a very, very important

          8  resolution. Anytime the political will of the number

          9  one City legislative body in the world is expressed

         10  through a piece of legislation, it has impact. And I

         11  understand that there are several cities that are

         12  following suit, Oakland passed one. We'll be hearing

         13  from their representative or the brother who helped

         14  pushed that in Oakland. I understand Baltimore and

         15  Cleveland and a few other cities are starting to do

         16  this. We are hoping that this could lead to a

         17  national holiday; a national holiday for Rosa Parks.

         18  We have contacted John Conyon's (phonetic) office

         19  and some of our congressional representatives

         20  because it is so significant to do this.

         21                 On December 1, we are going to ask

         22  people to join us on Wall Street, the citadel of

         23  capitalism and hopefully that they will understand

         24  in the recent studies of poverty being highest in

         25  New York City, poverty, especially in South Bronx,

                                                            7

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  East New York Brownsville, we have some of the

          3  highest rates of poverty in the entire nation. If

          4  you want to recall the Mayor and do the election

          5  over to take all that into consideration, we will

          6  support that move. Until that happens, this piece of

          7  legislation is critical.

          8                 We think the world of Rosa Parks. The

          9  act that she engaged in, in 1955, a seemingly

         10  insignificant act of just sitting on, I'm not giving

         11  up my seat. And that's not anything that anyone of

         12  us couldn't do, just to say I'm not giving up my

         13  seat and just remember a few months before that,

         14  Emmett Till was killed. Every way of person could be

         15  killed, Emmett Till was killed just a few months

         16  before in 1955 for looking at a white woman, just

         17  glancing at a white woman and saying hello or

         18  whatever he said. He was killed every way a person

         19  can be killed. So to sit on the bus and say no to

         20  segregation that could cost you your life in 1955.

         21  It wasn't just like the civil disobedience we do

         22  here where they lock you up for a moment and then

         23  let you out, you could lose your life. That was a

         24  very courageous act and we are calling on New

         25  Yorkers to have a Rosa Parks moment, to have a Rosa

                                                            8

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  Parks moment, sit down for something or stand up for

          3  something because we have got enough injustice.

          4  We've got enough poverty. We've got many issues for

          5  you to have a Rosa Parks moment.

          6                 I want to thank my staff person, Joy

          7  Simmons, who did a tremendous amount of work to help

          8  build this day. Please give her a hand clap too. She

          9  worked on it and Brother Larry Holmes who also

         10  brought the idea to us and worked very, very hard.

         11  And then all of the good things that I've done in

         12  the City Council, all the wise things that I've said

         13  and there have been a few, I want to give credit to

         14  my mentor, my spiritual father, the one who has

         15  taught me a lot and that's my pastor and closest

         16  friend, Rev. Herbert Daughtry. We just thank you for

         17  being there.

         18                 Let me hurry up and say all the other

         19  stuff that I said that people didn't like, that was

         20  me not listening to him. I just want to give credit

         21  where credit is due. Thank you once again, Domenic

         22  and I appreciate you doing this hearing for us.

         23  Let's make history move forward ever and backward

         24  never. Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you
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          2  Charles for those wonderful words and your comments

          3  are well, well appreciated. You are one of the few

          4  exemplary people that we have in this Council. I

          5  just want to say that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I'm getting up

          8  to you Yvette. He's the male. And another of our

          9  female leader who is exemplary, who does an

         10  outstanding job and I want to thank her for also

         11  being a prime sponsor of this bill, Yvette Clarke,

         12  our Councilwoman from the wonderful borough of

         13  Brooklyn.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Council Member

         15  Recchia, I'd just like to add my voice to that of my

         16  colleague, Council Member Barron, in really saying

         17  that you two have stepped forward with leadership

         18  and courage and I think we are inspired by the

         19  spirit of Rosa Parks knowing what she has done to

         20  revolutionize our society. And she was truly a

         21  revolutionary. People in our society tend to try to

         22  characterize people and they do that in both

         23  positive and negative ways. But Rosa Parks stands

         24  apart from, I think, any icon that we have had in

         25  our society in the 20th century and really
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          2  inspiring, inspiring a nation. Inspiring a nation to

          3  come out of a period where injustice was the status

          4  quo. And so today I want to add my voice.

          5                 Today, I want to say to the people of

          6  the City of New York that we have no choice. This is

          7  a moral imperative that we pass this resolution and

          8  join with many throughout this nation who have

          9  reached this level of consciousness about how we

         10  commemorate heroes in our society and indeed, Rosa

         11  Parks is a shero was a shero. And is someone that

         12  continues to inspire generations of young people, of

         13  people of her generation and of course, all of those

         14  in between. She was born in Tuskegee, Alabama. Her

         15  parents, one being carpenter and one being a

         16  teacher, she attended Alabama State Teachers College

         17  and settled in Montgomery, Alabama and married her

         18  husband, Raymond Parks.

         19                 She joined the local chapter of the

         20  NAACP and worked quietly for many years to improve

         21  the lot of African Americans in the segregated

         22  South. I'm sure it was during those times when she

         23  reflected on her home, her family, the values that

         24  they instilled in her and then moved to become

         25  civically involved in the NAACP that she began to
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          2  ignite that fire within her soul about the

          3  injustices that surrounded her and all of her

          4  relations. We know that on December 1, 1955, Ms.

          5  Parks refused to give up her seat to a white

          6  passenger. I think that was significant in that she

          7  was just a sister working hard and just tired. She

          8  acknowledged her own humanity in saying, I'm tired.

          9  Not only am I tired from a hard day's work, I'm

         10  tired of the environment and the climate in which I

         11  have to live and the people I love have to live day

         12  in and day out. Today is my day to just sit down and

         13  let the chips fall where they may. That takes a

         14  whole lot of courage.

         15                 In the political climate in which we

         16  live today, finding people of such conviction often

         17  times is a challenge because we're so busy trying to

         18  figure out who are we going to offend and how we

         19  balance that with our own humanity and our own

         20  instincts about what is right and what is wrong that

         21  often times we settle for less than what is expected

         22  of us and she didn't settle. She didn't settle at

         23  all. Her incident lead to the formation of the

         24  Montgomery Improvement Association which lead to the

         25  young pastor of Dexter Avenue Baptist Church, Dr.
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          2  Martin Luther King arising to prominence.

          3                 People like to always give all the

          4  credit to the man. I'm here to say, let's big up the

          5  women because behind these men, side by side with

          6  these men, are women that are constantly nudging,

          7  urging, speaking out, making things happen and often

          8  times, they are not given the same acknowledgment in

          9  the movement as these men have gotten traditionally.

         10  Today, we want to recognize that Rosa Parks is the

         11  one that sparked all of what we have come to know

         12  about civil rights and civil rights movements to the

         13  extent where government had to stand still, take

         14  notice, pull back, and rewind as they would say in

         15  my community.

         16                 I want to just take this moment to

         17  say that what we do here today should not be taken

         18  lightly. When I look at the climate around us, there

         19  are many, many challenges that continue to face

         20  communities of color. My colleague, Council Member

         21  Charles Barron, who is indeed been a real leader on

         22  behalf of our communities and has brought the

         23  revolution right here to City Hall, acknowledged the

         24  poverty level here in the City of New York. I think

         25  we have become somewhat numb to the suffering of
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          2  others around us. We often walk around the homeless

          3  and say why don't they do something about that. Who

          4  is they? They is we.

          5                 When I look at the challenge that

          6  we're facing in terms of just passing legislation

          7  for the equity of contracts that the City of New

          8  York lets through the MWBE process, we have

          9  segregated how we are going to distribute wealth in

         10  this community, not based on anyone's talents or

         11  abilities, but based on who is friends with who.

         12  That's basically where it comes down too and that

         13  has left many communities out of the loop and our

         14  disparity study demonstrates that. It's written,

         15  it's documented and there are those who would like

         16  to tinker with it. But the bottom line to it is that

         17  unemployment does not happen in a vacuum.

         18                 In our communities, unemployment has

         19  reached a level of which again, we continue to

         20  dehumanize those around us. We say that Rosa Parks

         21  gave her life, dedicated her life, so that we would

         22  have equity in our society and we continue to move

         23  that agenda forward here in the City Council. Then

         24  when I look at New York City's Fire Department, you

         25  know that's a department near and dear to me, but

                                                            14

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  I'm sort of stuck in a place where I'm saying, you

          3  know what, these are folks who give their lives

          4  every day and I don't want to diminish that. They

          5  have an awesome task for the safety of our society.

          6  But they have not gotten to the point here in the

          7  21st century where they have integrated that

          8  department. Let's call like it is. Ninety- three

          9  percent white male in the year 2005, is unheard of

         10  and should be appalling to everyone in this City.

         11  Because indeed there is not a community here that

         12  does not have the capability, the talent, the

         13  expertise or ability to be able to be on the front

         14  lines as fire fighters in the City of New York.

         15                 We have work to do in the legacy and

         16  tradition of a sister named Rosa Parks. I'm here to

         17  say that I am here because that sister sat down and

         18  I recognize that. That's internalizing a part of who

         19  I am and the fabric of my community. They recognize

         20  too that leadership can come in any agenda. They

         21  recognize that it can come in any race, ethnicity or

         22  religion and that is a part of who Rosa Parks was.

         23  Today, we salute her. Today we call on all

         24  businesses, all educational facilities, to

         25  commemorate on December 1, Rosa Parks. Because
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          2  indeed, it will be that history that enables each

          3  and every one of us irrespective of our race, our

          4  ethnicity, to go up just one more notch in our

          5  humanity and recognize who each other are and be

          6  able to capitalize on all the talents that all of

          7  our people bring to the table equal, equal one to

          8  another.

          9                 Thank you very much, Council Member

         10  Recchia. I'm excited about today. I'm going to be

         11  walking with an extra pep in my step and I want

         12  folks to know that we are doing what is called on us

         13  to do here in the New York City Council. That is to

         14  ignite across this nation a movement for a national

         15  holiday in the name of Rosa Parks.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

         17  much, Councilwoman. Charles Barron?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Yes, just very

         19  briefly. I just wanted to announce very briefly, I

         20  had come from a meeting around the FEMA, Katrina

         21  victims that are here in New York City. They are at

         22  the Hotel Radison now. It was a big meeting there,

         23  FEMA is there, the Homeless Services are there. They

         24  had a nerve to set a date for their eviction as

         25  December 1. They were going to evict the 2,500 to
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          2  maybe 5,000 FEMA hurricane, I called new hurricane,

          3  it's really hurricane FEMA/Bush, because Katrina

          4  didn't do it. But they were going to evict them from

          5  the hotels on December 1. We went over there and

          6  we're saying we are having a Rosa Parks hearing

          7  today. Rosa Parks refused to give up her seat. On

          8  December 1, you refuse to give up your bed. Have a

          9  Rosa Parks moment and say we are not leaving.

         10                 I do understand now that they have

         11  renegotiated some things. They may be extending it

         12  to January and the City may be taking over and

         13  having some responsibilities. I understand when I

         14  left that they would not be any evictions on

         15  December 1, because we weren't leaving anyway. But

         16  thank you, Domenic and thank the Comptroller, Billy

         17  Thompson for being here as well.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: It just amazes

         19  me how FEMA, they want to be Ebenezer Scrooge during

         20  the holiday season. At least someone should step

         21  forward to the plate and say no, it is holiday

         22  season. We have to help each other and care about

         23  people. At this time, we would like to begin our

         24  hearing and before we get started and call the first

         25  witness, I would just like to thank all my
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          2  colleagues in government and in City Council for

          3  their work. I'd like to thank Joy from Charles

          4  Barron staff working with my staff. I'd like to

          5  thank Rick Arbelo, who this is his last hearing.

          6  He's moving on to the Housing and Buildings

          7  Committee. We're going to miss you, Rick and thank

          8  you for your hard work in putting this all together.

          9                 I want to thank Mari, my attorney and

         10  I'd also like to thank Josh and Karen from my staff,

         11  for putting this all together and working with

         12  Charles Barron's staff. At this time, I'd like to

         13  call up our first witness, City Comptroller, William

         14  Thompson. I'd also like to acknowledge Eric Gioia

         15  from the wonderful borough of Queens and my

         16  colleague from the borough of Brooklyn, Simcha

         17  Felder. And I believe he has some students here

         18  today from Touro College. We welcome you to the City

         19  Council chamber.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I'm going to

         21  start bringing a cheering section along with me too.

         22  That was impressive. You announced his name and they

         23  clapped for him.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you. At

         25  this time, Comptroller Billy Thompson.
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          2                 MR. THOMPSON: Good morning, Mr.

          3  Chairman. And to each of the honorable members of

          4  the Cultural Affairs Libraries and International

          5  Integroup Relations Committee, good morning. And I

          6  would like to say how much I appreciate it or

          7  respected the comments of both you Mr. Chairman and

          8  Council persons Barron and Clarke. Very well said

          9  all of you and good morning, gentlemen also.

         10                 I'm very pleased and proud to join

         11  you today to speak in support of Resolution 1240,

         12  which expresses our sadness at the loss of Rosa

         13  Parks and designates December 1 as an annual day of

         14  commemoration of her life. To start out first, I

         15  guess it is as Yvette indicated, if it is not for

         16  the action of people like Rosa Parks and Rosa

         17  herself, people like us don't sit here at these

         18  tables. We don't sit as a Comptroller of the City of

         19  New York. We don't sit as members of the City

         20  Council and other legislative bodies, not just in

         21  New York City and State, but around this country. It

         22  is with that as a backdrop that I'm here. Thank you

         23  for the invitation. It is an opportunity I would not

         24  have missed. I am honored and proud to be here.

         25                 On rarely in our experience does an
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          2  individual act of courage carry so much weight, and

          3  influence the course of history, as did Rosa Parks

          4  refusal to give up her seat on a Montgomery, Alabama

          5  bus on December 1, 1955. As we all know, Ms. Parks

          6  act of defiance, coming at the end of a long day

          7  working as a department store seamstress, sparked a

          8  boycott and a movement. But as Rosa Parks herself

          9  explained, she was not planning on getting arrested

         10  on that or any other day. She had too much work to

         11  do.

         12                 She and her husband, Raymond were

         13  active members of the Montgomery NAACP. The previous

         14  summer she had attended an interracial leadership

         15  conference, where she said she gained and I quote,

         16   "gained strength to persevere in my work for

         17  freedom, not just for blacks but for all oppressed

         18  people." And yet as Dr. King wrote in his powerful

         19  memoir, Strive Towards Freedom, no one can

         20  understand the action of Mrs. Parks unless he

         21  realizes that eventually the cup of endurance runs

         22  over, and the human personality cries out, I can

         23  take it no longer. And indeed, when bus driver James

         24  Blake demanded that Mrs. Parks and three other

         25  African American riders step to the rear of the
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          2  Cleveland Avenue bus to make room for a single while

          3  male, Rosa Parks could take it no longer.

          4                 For her actions, Mrs. Parks was fined

          5  $10.00 and assessed another $4.00 in court fees.

          6  Within days, the Women's Political Council, which

          7  had been established in Montgomery precisely to

          8  address the mistreatment of black bus riders, had

          9  printed and distributed 35,000 copies of a handbill

         10  urging a boycott of the City's buses; a boycott that

         11  would last over a year. Finally, with the decision

         12  by the Supreme Court in Browder vs. Gayle, the

         13  unconscionable practice of segregation on buses was

         14  outlawed on December 20, 1956. The boycott ended the

         15  following day.

         16                 While there remained huge barriers to

         17  bring down other legal barriers to civil rights; at

         18  the voting booth, in public accommodations and in so

         19  many other areas, Rosa Parks opened the eyes of the

         20  nation to the injustice of Jim Crow laws still

         21  gripping the South. As the New York Times wrote in

         22  its obituary last month, Mrs. Parks clarified for

         23  people far beyond Montgomery, the cruelty and

         24  humiliation inherent in the laws and customs of

         25  segregation.
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          2                 That is a legacy worth celebrating.

          3  That is another legacy worth honoring. She truly was

          4  the mother of the civil rights movement. And that is

          5  why we have to make December 1 an annual day to

          6  remember the life and contributions of Rosa Parks.

          7  Again, Rosa Parks did so many things to open this

          8  country's eyes, but it also opened this country's

          9  eyes not just to Jim Crow in the South, but

         10  injustice across this country and in the North also.

         11  It is truly fitting and I'd like to again

         12  congratulate the members of the City Council for

         13  stepping forward; for moving quickly, for moving

         14  expeditiously. And to say to this country, we need

         15  to focus and remember Rosa Parks and to celebrate

         16  the day that she refused to move to the back of the

         17  bus. Again, Mr. Chairman, thank you so much in

         18  having me here today.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Comptroller and we hope you can join us on December

         21  1. Thank you very much. At this time, I'd like to

         22  call up the Borough President of my borough and our

         23  leader in the borough of Brooklyn, Marty Markowitz.

         24                 MR. MARKOWITZ: Thank you very much.

         25  Rosa Parks, modest but heroic act, freed us all. She
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          2  helped unleash the spirit of racial equality and

          3  economic empowerment for blacks in a way that will

          4  never and must never be forgotten. And she inspired

          5  whites to look inward at themselves and recognize

          6  that racism in America is systemic. And that by

          7  denying one's freedom, we deny us all. Rosa Parks

          8  made us see that without equality America was

          9  limiting itself; limiting the contributions of all

         10  its residents, but particularly blacks that we now

         11  celebrate in every walk of life. From music and

         12  film, to business and education, yes to politics and

         13  athletics and on and on and on.

         14                 The foundation of life in Brooklyn

         15  has been long how we celebrate our differences and

         16  cherish our diversity. Just as Henry Ward Beecher

         17  preached about abolition at the Plymouth; just as

         18  one of America's first free black communities in

         19  America took root in Wheatsville, just as Harriet

         20  Ross Tubman guided free slaves through Brooklyn

         21  stations on the underground railroad; just as the

         22  first black policeman; first black doctor and first

         23  black motorman, public transit lived in Brooklyn;

         24  just as Jackie Robertson broke the color barrier in

         25  professional sports and just as Brooklyn Shirley
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          2  Chisholm, a blessed memory, became the first African

          3  American woman in the United States Congress and the

          4  first to run for the Presidency of the United

          5  States.

          6                 No where is the American dream on

          7  display in all its glory and power than in Brooklyn.

          8  That's why with all of Rosa Parks bravery or as we

          9  Brooklynites sometimes refer to us as hutzpah, I

         10  have a hunch that Rosa Parks would have felt right

         11  at home in Brooklyn, USA. We would do her and all

         12  Americans proud to celebrate her legacy every year

         13  on December 1. Her courage in the face of immoral

         14  authority should be an inspiration to all young

         15  people of every color in New York City and across

         16  the nation. And for Rosa Parks day moves just one

         17  individual to follow in her footsteps and to fight

         18  hate and injustice, then we would have done the

         19  right thing.

         20                 Council Members Barron, Perkins,

         21  James, Fidler, Recchia, Clarke, Vann, Foster and all

         22  the members of the City Council, I salute you and

         23  this is one that I know will be approved unanimously

         24  and December 1 is a great day to celebrate her

         25  contributions. Thank you Councilman.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Borough President. We invite you to join us on

          4  December 1.

          5                 MR. MARKOWITZ: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you. Mari,

          7  call up the next panel.

          8                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: For the

          9  next panel, Rev. Herbert Daughtry, Clarence Thomas,

         10  Nana Soul, Larry Holmes, and Michael Hardy.

         11                 REV. DAUGHTRY: Thank you very much.

         12  My name is Herb Daughtry. I serve as the National

         13  Minister for The House of the Lord Churches. To

         14  Chairperson, Domenic Recchia and to Council Member

         15  Charles Barron and to all the members of this

         16  Committee and especially to Yvette Clarke, and to my

         17  distinguished panelist and also to my special

         18  assistant, a young lady named Jolly Jessica

         19  (phonetic) who was a recent graduate of Dillan

         20  University where the Katrina hurricane put in her

         21  catastrophic appearance.

         22                 Let me say to Council Member Charles

         23  Barron who always say some wonderful things about

         24  me, obviously everybody knows we have a mutual

         25  admiration society and in my 48 years, you can well
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          2  imagine that I baptized a lot of people. And we

          3  baptize by immersion. I'm so glad and I know you are

          4  too that Charles Barron is one of those persons that

          5  I brought up out of the water. I cannot say that for

          6  all of my members. I want to say to him and to all

          7  of us this occasion is just another mark on his

          8  already crowded ledger of momentous occasions. To

          9  Yvette Clarke, you know she is a recipient of the

         10  Randy Evans memorial scholarship. She was a just

         11  teenager then on her way to college which says

         12  something about my age by the way.

         13                 Which leads me to say this having

         14  spent some three quarters of a century in this

         15  valley of tears and having borne many of the burdens

         16  of the day and whips and scorns of time, you come

         17  finally to ask yourself and those of you who have

         18  reached this grand pinnacle as I have, what really

         19  is important in life. And I've come to the

         20  conclusion at least one of the things is to say that

         21  your life has influenced somebody for the good. When

         22  I look at Council Member Charles Barron and Yvette

         23  Clarke and many others, maybe I made a little bit of

         24  sense along the way and we're so proud of you both.

         25                 The occasion that brings us here,
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          2  Resolution 1240 is so important. The Borough

          3  President recounted a moment ago how many historic

          4  moments and many persons of history, history makers

          5  came through Brooklyn. Well, I shall always remember

          6  and I know Council Member Charles Barron share this

          7  moment when Rosa Parks came to Brooklyn, she came to

          8  our church and spent the day with us. We had known

          9  her over a period of time and had shared many, many

         10  occasions together. I reckon if there is a

         11  liability, you know about age, it is in the words of

         12  that poem, what are the worst of olds that wait on

         13  age. What stamps the wrinkle deepest in the brow to

         14  view loved ones blotted from life's page and to be

         15  alone as I am now. Rosa Parks, Dr. Martin Luther

         16  King, Jr., Malcom X, Joshua Cuomo, and a host of

         17  others come to my mind as I've watched them blotted

         18  from life's page.

         19                 I thank God the sunshine is that the

         20  memory will live forever and due to the work of

         21  Council Member Charles Barron and this Committee,

         22  Rosa Parks will be with us forever. To conclude,

         23  others have told the story of Rosa Parks and surely

         24  more eloquently than I, but just three quick points

         25  I'd like to make. I hope that this occasion, this
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          2  resolution, when it is adopted and I'm certain it

          3  will be adopted, I hope that it does several things.

          4  Council Member Charles Barron often talked of the

          5  Rosa Parks moment. Everybody should have a Rosa Park

          6  moment. What Rosa Parks revealed to us then is that

          7  all of us can be heroes and sheroes. All of us can

          8  be history makers. No matter who you are, you need

          9  not disqualify yourself from achieving something

         10  significant. Rosa Parks revealed that for us and so

         11  it inspired us and challenged all of us to be ready

         12  when destiny calls.

         13                 The second point I would want to make

         14  is for those of us who struggle for what is right,

         15  we can draw inspiration from the fact we never know

         16  what incident is going to be the moment. We never

         17  know what we do higher significant will usher in a

         18  new day. Surely, I grew up in the South and I'm well

         19  aware of the southern system which appeared to us at

         20  that time to be impractical. Some very small

         21  insignificant act may challenge the muse of history

         22  to rewrite her document or to change the rivers of

         23  history in their flow. That again, will hopefully

         24  happen December 1, that a movement will be created

         25  that will bring in the day that all of us that have
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          2  struggled for what is right and what is just will

          3  take place.

          4                 Finally, the timing it is a

          5  fascinating study of history. Timing seems to be

          6  everything. I think it was Victor Hugo who said of

          7  all the armies that are ever marched, nothing is so

          8  powerful as an idea whose time has come. Shakespeare

          9  has a saying that there is a tide in the fairs of

         10  human kind taken at its currently own fortune

         11  neglected human beings and he was more chauvinistic,

         12  he said men. You all have converted me, so men and

         13  women, to spend the rest of their lives beating in

         14  the shallows. Hopefully, a, this is the time. This

         15  is the moment. New York is a great place, great

         16  people here. And it may be that someone is going to

         17  step forward from out of the background, out of the

         18  shadows and will be used by deity density, depending

         19  upon your belief and will be the person that will

         20  usher in the new day. And it hopefully, for me since

         21  I don't have a whole lot more time, although I do

         22  expect to be here for another 75 years. The only

         23  problem is nobody will be here but me so I decided

         24  that I'm going to shorten the time. I don't have a

         25  whole lot of time, so I hope that day will come.
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          2                 Again, Chairman, I'm so proud of you

          3  man, I don't know what to do. I baptized him,

          4  married him, christened his baby and Yvette, your

          5  mother -- when you get old as I am, you begin to see

          6  the children of the people you see, Serrano and

          7  others on this Council. God Bless You and we hope

          8  that this will mark a new day in New York and in

          9  fact in the nation and in fact in the world. Thank

         10  you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you Rev.

         12  Daughtry for those wonderful, wonderful words of

         13  inspiration and again, we just want you to know that

         14  we appreciate coming down here today and testifying.

         15                 REV. DAUGHTRY: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Next.

         17                 MR. THOMAS: Members of the New York

         18  Council --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Excuse me. Just

         20  identify yourself.

         21                 MR. THOMAS: I will.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay.

         23                 MR. THOMAS: My name is Clarence

         24  Thomas, not be confused with the other person who

         25  has that name who is not as good looking as I am or
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          2  progressive. I am a third generation long- shoreman,

          3  proud member of the International Long Shore and

          4  Warehouse Union in San Francisco, the local of the

          5  legendary labor leader, Harry Bridges. I am from

          6  Oakland, California, born and raised. Oakland is a

          7  very historic place. It is the place where C.L.

          8  Dellums, who was one of the co- founders of the

          9  Brotherhood of Sleeping Car Porters as well as the

         10  uncle of former Congressman Ron B. Dellums. It is

         11  also the home of the Black Panther Party of which

         12  Councilman Barron and I share some legacy because he

         13  and I both were members of the Black Panther Party.

         14                 I came to you today because just a

         15  few days ago, the Oakland City Council adopted a

         16  resolution calling for December 1 to be Rosa Parks

         17  day. The flag will fly at half mast. There is a

         18  request that businesses allow for employees to take

         19  off that day to honor the memory. I think that one

         20  of the things that's important for us all to

         21  remember here is that Sis. Rosa Parks was a

         22  revolutionary. And I know that many people think

         23  that there is a certain stereotype when we talk

         24  about what a revolutionary looks like. I know coming

         25  from the Black Panther Party, many people have the
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          2  image of the gun. But a revolutionary does not have

          3  to have a gun. A revolutionary needs to have

          4  courage. A revolutionary needs to understand the

          5  importance of sacrifice and that's what Sis. Rosa

          6  Parks showed us and taught us all.

          7                 That resolution that was adopted by

          8  the Oakland City Council came from the Million

          9  Worker March Movement. Bro. Larry Holmes and others

         10  in this room were very much involved with that. It

         11  was important because it dealt with the essence of

         12  what Sis. Parks was all about. The whole question of

         13  people before profits, national healthcare, the

         14  rightful workers to have a union and to have the

         15  right to strike without replacement workers,

         16  universal healthcare; those kinds of issues. It is

         17  in that spirit that I came today and I don't mean in

         18  anyway to make this appear to be a bribe, but I

         19  brought a couple of things that I would like to

         20  present to Councilman Barron as well as to

         21  Councilman Recchia and for you Sis. Clarke, I didn't

         22  know your size, so I brought you a video tape of the

         23  Million Worker March Movement that you can enjoy and

         24  I will also leave one for the Council.

         25                 I just hope that you endorse the
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          2  resolution before you today. I think that it is very

          3  important. New York is a great City. By taking an

          4  action on the affirmative on this resolution today,

          5  you will be setting an example. I know that

          6  resolutions have been adopted in Boston, also in

          7  Detroit as well as Cleveland. There is one pending

          8  as I understand it in Baltimore. This is going to be

          9  a wonderful way to continue the legacy and the

         10  example of Mother Rosa Parks. If you would allow me

         11  to present these items. It is not a bribe, but I

         12  most certainly would like to give them to you. Thank

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: We greatly

         15  appreciate it, Mr. Thomas. Thank you and it is

         16  greatly appreciated. It is wonderful to hear what's

         17  going on and I think we also have to work on this

         18  because we have to get some of the cities down in

         19  the South to recognize Rosa Parks day. I went to law

         20  school down in the South. I went to school in

         21  Atlanta. It's amazing because as a white person, I

         22  remember sitting in class and my professor turns

         23  around and says what's a Yankee doing down here

         24  going to school. They just don't get it. I remember

         25  there was a march up in Rostin, Georgia in the hills
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          2  because that's where the Klu Klux Klan. I'll never

          3  forget that experience when I went up there to

          4  march. I'll never forget that day back in the late

          5  1980's this was. It's sad to say, it's still going

          6  on, discrimination. That's why we have to send the

          7  message loud and clear and we have to get some of

          8  the cities down South to join us. It's just the

          9  beginning. All right, next.

         10                 MS. SOUL: Good morning. My name is

         11  Nana Soul and I represent Artists and Activists

         12  United for Peace, also the Ghetto Chronicles and

         13  also Troops Out Now Coalition. Good morning. It's

         14  not only important that we remember Rosa Parks and

         15  the sacrifices that she made in order for Black

         16  people to be treated like human beings by other

         17  human beings. It is also important for young people

         18  who did not either grow up during the civil rights

         19  movement or who do not know much about the civil

         20  rights movement to forge and maintain a connection

         21  to the many roots of struggle, of which the

         22  honorable Rosa Parks is one.

         23                 December 1 should absolutely and

         24  without a doubt be Rosa Parks Day. But it should be

         25  so much more than a holiday where we don't have to
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          2  go to work or school. It should be a day upon which

          3  all people of good reflect upon their obligation to

          4  fight for better treatment of all people. It should

          5  be a day of civil disobedience and a day of

          6  solidarity for all struggles for equality. It should

          7  be a day where we renew our commitment to awaken the

          8  consciousness of people all over the world.

          9                 Martin Luther King, Jr., taught me

         10  that sentiment without action is sanction. Rosa

         11  Parks taught me that the actions of one person can

         12  inspire millions. In declaring December 1, Rosa

         13  Parks Day, we are teaching the world that the civil

         14  rights movement is not over; in fact, it begins a

         15  new every time a revolutionary somewhere on this

         16  planet decides that they've had enough. In each of

         17  us, we carry the spark of the revolution, one that

         18  will burn down every single structure, institution

         19  and action based upon hate, ignorance and

         20  oppression.

         21                 Finally, we need to acknowledge the

         22  divinity and the beauty of one individual taking a

         23  stand and taking their place in the continued

         24  struggle for freedom and self determination. In

         25  declaring December 1 Rosa Parks' Day, we honor a
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          2  solider who stood firm on the front lines in heart,

          3  spirit and action, and we can only hope to follow in

          4  her footsteps on the path of righteousness. Black

          5  Power.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you.

          7                 MS. SOUL: You're welcome.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Just state your

          9  name and your organization.

         10                 MR. HARDY: To the Chairperson,

         11  members of the Committee, other elected members who

         12  are present today and of course, our great citizens

         13  of the City of New York, good morning. Thank you for

         14  the opportunity to give testimony with regard to the

         15  adoption of Rosa Parks day and especially thank you

         16  to Councilman Barron for inviting us this morning.

         17                 My name is Michael Hardy and I am

         18  General Counsel to the National Action Network,

         19  whose founder and president is the Rev. Dr. Al

         20  Sharpton. As many of you know, the National Action

         21  Network is a civil rights and social justice

         22  organization with chapters and members across the

         23  United States who are dedicated to the principles of

         24  civil and human rights, social and economic justice

         25  and equality for all. Our president, Rev. Al
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          2  Sharpton, has on many occasions made the sacrifice

          3  to continue the great struggle for dignity, respect

          4  and true freedom for black people of African decent

          5  in the United States and for equality for all.

          6                 We come this morning to add our voice

          7  and support for the passage of Rosa Parks day

          8  resolution. This resolution would not only bring

          9  honor to the memory of Rosa Parks, but would bring

         10  honor to our City for doing its part in creating

         11  opportunity for many to celebrate the unique and

         12  special history of our country's growth,

         13  development, and enlightenment. It will be a day to

         14  remember the sacrifices that have been made on

         15  behalf of all people.

         16                 Rev. Sharpton said of Rosa Parks that

         17  she was a true historic figure who literally changed

         18  American and world history. Her sitting down on the

         19  bus on December 1, 1955, forced America to stand up

         20  and eventually tear down the walls of segregation

         21  and apartheid in this country. He called upon

         22  President Bush on the day of Ms. Parks' passing, to

         23  lower flags and fly at half- mast for the nation

         24  should officially celebrate the life of a woman who

         25  changed the world. She made it possible for future
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          2  generations to live in a nation that did not reduce

          3  them to second class citizenship.

          4                 Joshua Henry Jones, a novelist and

          5  newspaper editor, who lived between 1886 and 1934,

          6  once said that none of us are responsible for our

          7  birth. Our responsibility is the use we make of

          8  life. As this resolution reminds us, Rosa Parks made

          9  great use of her life. Sometimes government is more

         10  interested in preaching about patriotism and

         11  democratic freedom than actually practicing it. This

         12  resolution urges us to take the time every year on

         13  December 1, to honor a real hero, a real patriot, a

         14  real fighter for freedom and equality. Rosa Parks,

         15  without firing a gun or dropping a bomb or even

         16  raising her voice, took one of the greatest strides

         17  towards freedom and in a single act of defiance

         18  demonstrated that she was a true American patriot.

         19                 Rosa Parks was not elected to any

         20  post in government. She had no corporate interest to

         21  protect. She risked her life and at the very least

         22  her freedom to wake up a nation. We talk about one

         23  nation under God, indivisible. We teach our children

         24  about George Washington, as the father of the

         25  nation. We teach our children about Abraham Lincoln,
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          2  who as President preserved the union, emancipated

          3  slaves in the South, and gave his life for taking a

          4  stand.

          5                 The importance of Rosa Parks is that

          6  a single act, she spurred the boycott in Montgomery

          7  that would open the door of dignity for her people

          8  and inspire a movement that breathed new life into

          9  our constitution and was called the Negro Revolution

         10  by the late great Dr. Martin Luther King. This

         11  nation will never bridge the racial divide if we do

         12  not give the next generation of children a proper

         13  education about American heroes who suffered as

         14  slaves and second class citizens, but has persisted

         15  in their quest for human dignity, freedom and human

         16  rights.

         17                 Rosa Parks' single act of refusing to

         18  give up her seat, stands as an act of courage, no

         19  less significant than other single act of courage

         20  throughout our nations history that lead to great

         21  changes for the benefit of society and human kind.

         22  So I ask you, as the City Council, of this country's

         23  greatest City, how can we not honor the First Lady

         24  of Justice; the mother of the civil rights movement.

         25  Some of us were but babies in 1955. I was 5 months
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          2  old when Rosa sat for justice. I was born in that

          3  year when skin color determined my standing in this

          4  nation; when water fountains, bathrooms, lunch

          5  counters and buses were segregated based on the

          6  color of a person's skin.

          7                 As I look at many of you on this

          8  Council, I remember seeing you when we took up civil

          9  disobedience in the name of justice, whether it was

         10  Diallo, or South Africa, you know the value of Rosa

         11  Parks' legacy. She helped open the channel for the

         12  river of justice to flow across this nation and

         13  break the back of Jim Crow. Rosa Parks did not wait

         14  for someone else to do what had to be done and this

         15  Council should not wait for some other City to be

         16  first. Although, I now hear that we won't be the

         17  first. Don't let this greatest City be just a

         18  follower. Let this great City be in the front of the

         19  bus taking the lead for justice. No justice, no

         20  peace. And thank you for this opportunity.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you for

         22  those wonderful words. I would just ask if you have

         23  written testimony, if you could give us a copy. Just

         24  so we have a clear record on this day. Before you

         25  leave, if you don't have copies, we'll make you
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          2  copies. Next.

          3                 MR. HOLMES: My name is Larry Holmes.

          4  I'm with the Troops Out Now Coalition and also the

          5  Rosa Parks 50th Anniversary Committee. I want to

          6  thank the Chairperson for the work that he has done

          7  on this resolution and I want to especially thank my

          8  brother revolutionary, Charles Barron, the Mayor as

          9  far as many of us are concerned for just doing what

         10  needs to be done once again, as well as all of his

         11  colleagues on the City Council who have signed their

         12  name onto this resolution.

         13                 I think it's important that the

         14  resolution has language that calls on the businesses

         15  private and public to close on December 1 or in the

         16  alternative, let their workers come out to the

         17  rally, participate in the day of absence with

         18  impunity. I think that this is what we need in this

         19  City and in this country. It's not enough to

         20  remember Rosa Parks and to give the impression that

         21  her work is done. Because we all know that that's

         22  not the case. Poverty is raging, injustice is

         23  raging, the gap between the have's and have's not is

         24  getting wider, the outrageous treatment by the

         25  federal government of the survivors of the Katrina
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          2  hurricane primarily because they are poor black

          3  people is a sign that anybody who thinks the civil

          4  rights movement is finished, no way.

          5                 We think of Dr. Martin Luther King

          6  who was just a young minister at Dexter Avenue

          7  Baptist Church, who Rosa Parks as the mother of the

          8  civil rights movement in many respects gave birth to

          9  his career. By the time he traveled from Montgomery

         10  to Memphis where he was assassinated, he had

         11  redefined civil rights. He realized that civil

         12  rights had to be more than just the ability to sit

         13  in the front of the bus or sit in a restaurant if

         14  you could afford to pay. Civil rights had to be

         15  brought to economic rights. I don't think a lot of

         16  people know this. But Dr. King was for everyone

         17  having a right to a decent job with decent pay. He

         18  was for the right of workers to organize into labor

         19  unions.

         20                 Here's another aspect. A

         21  controversial aspect some people think this is the

         22  reason why somebody wanted to take him out of the

         23  picture because he decided to come out against the

         24  war in Vietnam. Because he had come to the

         25  conclusion that there could be no progress not only
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          2  for African American or people of color, but for

          3  poor people everywhere as long as we were dealing

          4  with racism, poverty and militarism. What we need

          5  through this resolution and the other resolutions

          6  that are being passed around the country is to

          7  reignite that movement. I do hope that you will all

          8  join us on Wall Street. Usually on Wall Street, the

          9  theme of the day is get richer at the expense of

         10  somebody else. But on December 1, we want to bring a

         11  new theme to Wall Street.

         12                 We want Wall Street to deal with

         13  people who have no housing. We want Wall Street to

         14  deal with FEMA even thinks about evacuating people

         15  twice after they were evacuated from New Orleans and

         16  other gulf coasts areas. We want Wall Street to

         17  think about the need for decent wages and the need

         18  to stop this criminal unjust war and use that money

         19  for social needs. I hope that all of you will be out

         20  there and we will indeed have no business as usual.

         21  I think Rosa Parks will be smiling.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I want to thank

         23  you all for your kind words, for coming down here

         24  today and for your testimony for this wonderful

         25  great lady that will never be forgotten. At this
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          2  time, I have all my colleagues here. I would like to

          3  call for a vote of this resolution. We will continue

          4  to keep on taking testimony.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Mr. Chairman?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Before I vote

          8  for this resolution, I have a problem with the

          9  language that my name is not on the resolution. I'd

         10  like to add my name to the resolution. I actually

         11  signed on at the stated meeting, but it's not on the

         12  bill.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I just want to

         15  make sure that my name is added as a sponsor to this

         16  historic resolution.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: So done. It will

         18  be done.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Simcha Felder.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

         22  much. I just wanted to try to make a brief comment

         23  before you took the vote. I'm not a member of this

         24  Committee, unfortunately. I really feel that our

         25  colleagues missed something very special this
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          2  morning. I was debating when you and Councilman

          3  Barron said, Simcha are you going to be there on

          4  Friday? Friday is usually not my day to want to do

          5  anything, especially not to come down to City Hall.

          6  But something sparked an interest and it's been an

          7  inspiration to me listening to all the testimony; a

          8  very, very special hearing. Probably one of the most

          9  special hearings that I've attended since I've been

         10  elected.

         11                 I just would like maybe take

         12  exception sort of in some of the theme. Like one of

         13  the witnesses ended, Black Power, which is a

         14  wonderful thing. But I think that the resolution

         15  means a lot more than that. It really does. I think

         16  she, no one has a monopoly on racism or

         17  anti-Semitism or anything like that. There is

         18  unfortunately enough to spread around and continues

         19  to be. This woman was an inspiration to many and

         20  continues to be for a variety of reasons, whether

         21  you're black or otherwise. She's a tremendous

         22  inspiration to me growing up and recently the Daily

         23  News had her picture on the cover with the police

         24  tag.

         25                 One of my colleagues took exception
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          2  to that, that they took mug shot. I thought it was a

          3  wonderful thing. I thought that it was a wonderful

          4  thing for people in 2005 in our day, especially

          5  young people, not like me, to see what happens to

          6  humanity when people don't care. How else are you

          7  going to see it if you don't see her on the front

          8  page with a mug shot and somebody says, Ma, why is

          9  that lady have the tag? Why was she arrested?

         10  Because she sat on a bus. How else are the kids

         11  going to learn about anything? To me, she really is

         12  a heroine for everyone, for everyone, one. And two,

         13  usually when you talk about activism, we all talk

         14  about standing up, standing up, standing up.

         15                 I think the witness who was with Rev.

         16  Sharpton's group, I forget you name, I'm sorry,

         17  mentioned something very interesting. The theme

         18  about her sitting and her sitting, not marching, not

         19  doing anything; just sitting really sends home a

         20  very, very special message that when the time comes

         21  and again one of the other witnesses says, everyone

         22  gets that shot. Really, I think that. Everyone gets

         23  that opportunity to do something extraordinary to

         24  help other people that may not be popular and that

         25  may get you in trouble. That Rosa Parks did what she

                                                            46

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  did, I believe, she did it for everybody. That's

          3  what I believe in my heart that she believed that it

          4  wasn't nearly which was enough, I mean that in and

          5  of itself was enough to try to help eliminate all

          6  the segregation that was going on.

          7                 I believe in my heart that she was

          8  doing it to help everyone who was oppressed,

          9  everyone who was discriminated against and for that,

         10  we owe her. Having a day is a nice thing, it's like

         11  a token. But really the testimony today in the

         12  hearing, what it did for me is that it set a fire at

         13  least a little bit. I may not last that long, but at

         14  least for the next few hours about the will to go

         15  out and do something and we hope that day will do

         16  the same thing for everyone throughout the City. I

         17  applaud you and Council Member Barron and all the

         18  members for bringing this forth.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

         20  much, Council Member Simcha Felder. We're going to

         21  take the vote at this time and then Charles Barron

         22  will say a few words. Rev. Daughtry, you wanted to

         23  say something? If you could just get to the

         24  microphone.

         25                 REV. DAUGHTRY: Yes, thank you very
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          2  much, Mr. Chairman. I was just about to take leave

          3  of the meeting and then I heard Councilman Felder

          4  make reference to the young lady's saying Black

          5  Power. I wondered if she was going to respond. I

          6  didn't mean to call if she was, then I would have

          7  let her responded. I was uniting with the Black

          8  Power. I came through a time of Black Power and I

          9  don't want to revive that the tensions of the time.

         10  I always want to maintain the essence of what we

         11  meant when we were saying Black Power. It was not

         12  ever intended surely by most of us, other people

         13  were excluded. But people who have been exploited

         14  whose history have been stolen, who not only in the

         15  past, but a continuing presence of oppression need a

         16  rally and cry, needs a motto that summons them to

         17  themselves to remember the greatness of their

         18  history and to remember the struggle of yester

         19  years.

         20                 Black Power, while other people

         21  exercised it, I remember, you know one thing about

         22  being old, you don't have to say somebody told me. I

         23  was back there then when President Johnson became

         24  president. I remember quite distinctly one of the

         25  things he said, you know I feel that I'm Irish by
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          2  osmosis. President Kennedy had brought so many Irish

          3  into the White House and everybody got a big laugh

          4  about that. That was Irish Power. That's what it

          5  was. He didn't shout it and maybe the mistake is

          6  that we shouted too loud. Maybe we ought to make it

          7  happen. But the reality of American history and

          8  American political system is that group solidarity

          9  have always been used to promote the group. It seems

         10  that nobody had any problems with it until it come

         11  to us. Nobody had any problem with German theology

         12  and French theology, but when we started talking

         13  Black theology, there was no such thing. Why were we

         14  talking Black? Why is the theologist theology? It's

         15  everybody theology. You can have a Black theology.

         16                 When we started saying Black is

         17  proud, then we suddenly learn that everybody is

         18  proud. God loves everybody. But until we began to

         19  search our reality, it seems somehow to be

         20  interpreted as anti- somebody. I just want to say,

         21  Councilman Felder, that we were part of it and very

         22  close to Ray, whose name I mentioned here who

         23  screamed the slogan in 1966 on the march from Salem

         24  to Montgomery. He and Dr. King had a good long

         25  discussion about it, never intended it to be anti-
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          2  anybody. But again, I'm certain that most black

          3  people would agree that it was a call to look within

          4  yourself, look at your own genius, look at your own

          5  history and began to develop an approach that would

          6  capture or control our communities.

          7                 Therefore, to bring our offerings, to

          8  bring our achievements to the national alter and say

          9  here we are. This is what we have achieved. That's

         10  what Black Power has always meant to me. I've

         11  struggled for everybody's empowerment. I've

         12  struggled with machine guns, talk about Irish, I've

         13  struggled with machine guns in my head in Belfast,

         14  walking the streets of Belfast. So I've struggled

         15  from Belfast to Baton Rouge, but again just as Jews,

         16  Roman Catholics in Belfast and others who have been

         17  exploited and denied their history, we always have

         18  to have a rally and cry. Again, Mr. Chairman, thank

         19  you very much for allowing an old man to ramble

         20  some.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Excuse me, Mr.

         23  Chair?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Can I just

                                                            50

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  respond to the Reverend?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Real quick.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: We're not

          5  having a debate.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: After this,

          7  we're going to call the vote.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: We're not

          9  having a debate.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Then everybody

         11  else will want to --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I just wanted

         13  to say that if anyone misunderstood what I was

         14  trying to say, I apologize. And I agree with you

         15  entirely about that. That was not my intention. I

         16  thought that I was saying something positive. But my

         17  sense of humor sometimes is off track. Some would

         18  say that I'm entirely off track.

         19                 REV. DAUGHTRY: I know the feeling.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: All I was

         21  trying to say that that's fine, but it means a lot

         22  to even those that are not screaming Black Power.

         23  I'm not trying in any way to diminish that or taking

         24  that away or denigrate the use of that. I was just

         25  trying to make a point that to many, many of us, I'm
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          2  not trying to put myself in anyone's place, but that

          3  she means a lot to all of us. That's all. That's all

          4  I meant.

          5                 REV. DAUGHTRY: And when we say Black

          6  Power quietly, yes, we still believe she means a

          7  whole lot to all of us.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: So I'm going

          9  to say it, Black Power.

         10                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Say it louder.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Black Power.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: At this time,

         13  we're going to call the vote.

         14                 MS. BAILEY: Mr. Chairman?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I'm going to

         16  call the vote, ma'am.

         17                 MS. BAILEY: We have brought a message

         18  from the people of Harlem is very brief. I was not

         19  called upon --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I've got to take

         21  the vote, ma'am.

         22                 MS. BAILEY: It's just very brief.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Ma'am, I have to

         24  call this vote. If you like to talk, please fill out

         25  a form.
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          2                 MS. BAILEY: I did already.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: You will be

          4  called next. At this time, I call the vote.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Resolution 1240,

          6  Council Member Recchia.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Aye.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gioia.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Mr. Chairman, I

         10  have a moment to explain my vote?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you. I

         13  will try to be very brief. First, let me just say

         14  that Reverend, your testimony is, I think is some of

         15  most compelling testimony I've ever heard in this

         16  room. Thank you very much for making the time to

         17  come down here today and speak with us. Thank you

         18  very much, sir, for your time.

         19                 This vote being taken a week before

         20  Thanksgiving, Thanksgiving is actually my favorite

         21  holiday because it's an American holiday. And

         22  everyone across religions celebrates Thanksgiving.

         23  Thanksgiving to me is a time when not only do you

         24  count your blessings and be thankful for everything

         25  that has happened to you in the preceding year, but
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          2  it's also a time with your family you sit and

          3  recommit yourself to what it is to be an American.

          4                 Now my family came here about 100

          5  years ago and they came here like many families to

          6  make a better life in a better land. Not all

          7  families had that choice to come to America. But

          8  here we are in the 21st century and you look and you

          9  say, the dream, the American dream. The idea that if

         10  you work hard, if you take responsibility for your

         11  life, if you do right and if you play by the rules

         12  you will be able to go out there and have a good

         13  life. Send your child to a great school, have access

         14  to a good job, be able to live in a neighborhood

         15  that's safe and affordable and that you can be proud

         16  of. Is that dream alive today and are there ways

         17  that the people in this room and the people that we

         18  speak to everyday, are there ways that we could make

         19  it more alive?

         20                 As this economy continues with Tom

         21  Friedman calls is dumb bell economy with no middle,

         22  just a big poor side and small rich side. What

         23  obligation do we have to each other as an American

         24  family? Sometimes you read the newspaper or you

         25  watch the nightly news and you're frustrated by what
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          2  you see and I know there is an instinct to say, well

          3  you know what there is nothing I can do about it.

          4  I'm just going to go on with my life and I'm so busy

          5  and what I am suppose to do about it anyway.

          6                 When I hear this resolution and I

          7  think about the life of Rosa Parks, how can't you be

          8  inspired? How can you go home tonight and watch the

          9  evening news and say there is nothing I can do about

         10  it. How can you read the newspaper and say there is

         11  nothing I can do about it? How can't you be

         12  galvanized? How can't you be called to action and

         13  say in fact, the wonderful thing about this country

         14  is democracy is not a spectator sport. All of us,

         15  not only have the opportunity, but the obligation to

         16  get off the side lines and to make this a better

         17  City and a better world. And with that, sir, I vote

         18  yes and I do ask that my name be added to the

         19  resolution. Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: So ordered, add

         21  Eric Gioia to the resolution.

         22                 COUNSEL CLERK: Weprin.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Aye with the

         24  adding of the name Weprin to the resolution.

         25                 COUNSEL CLERK: By a vote of three in
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          2  the affirmative, zero in the negative, no

          3  abstentions, the resolution is adopted. Council

          4  Members, please sign the Committee Report.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: The resolution

          6  passed. We will continue to take testimony. What

          7  happens next is this will go to the full Council on

          8  November 30. We will continue to take testimony and

          9  hopefully we will get this signed expeditiously. And

         10  also on December 1, we will be planning some

         11  festivity. We will discuss it with Charles Barron.

         12  Our next panel. Yes, Yvette Clarke.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chair. As you know, I'm not a voting member of this

         15  Committee. I wanted to thank my colleagues for

         16  passing this resolution so expeditiously. But I

         17  wanted to give a special thank you to my colleague,

         18  Charles Barron, for allowing me to co- sponsor and

         19  merge. They say that brilliant minds think a like,

         20  we just have different tactics. My brother knows

         21  that the revolutionary spirit is something that I've

         22  been raised in. The movement and whenever Charles

         23  Barron calls upon me, I know that the issue is one

         24  that goes and resonates to the heart of our

         25  community and our people and that he is coming in
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          2  earnest to make sure that there is justice.

          3                 I want to thank you Council Member

          4  Barron for being the lightening rod and for the

          5  being spear head of making sure that our culture is

          6  preserved and our position as a people in this City

          7  and in this state and in this nation is afforded in

          8  a way in which resonates with everyone within our

          9  community. I want to thank you. And thank you, Mr.

         10  Chair. I so look forward to December 1. Everyone

         11  will be out there. Make sure you talk to your boss

         12  from today because the resolution is passed,

         13  November 30. If you have got to put in a leave slip

         14  or whatever the bureaucracy is for your office, make

         15  sure that it is in place. Because we want to see

         16  everyone out there. Sister Rosa Parks deserves

         17  nothing less. God Bless.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay. Thank you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I just also

         20  want to thank Domenic Recchia for his tenacity and

         21  his audacity to bring something forward so swiftly

         22  and pushing it just as hard as we pushed it and the

         23  way he conducted this hearing, the spirit of it.

         24  This is a proud moment for New York City that we

         25  have this passed and I'm certain it will pass the
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          2  larger City Council. I think that will be easy. And

          3  I think Rev. Daughtry rebutted the Council Member

          4  very well, so I won't even harp on that. Nana Soul,

          5  thank you for saying Black Power. And I just leave

          6  with you Black Power.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: All right. Our

          8  next panel.

          9                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Next panel,

         10  Leilani Dowell, Nellie Hester Bailey, Dustin Langley

         11  and Mia Cruz.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Come on up.

         13  Don't be shy. I would just ask before you testify

         14  just to state your name for the record and if you

         15  are from an organization or affiliated, state the

         16  name of your organization. Go ahead.

         17                 MS. BAILEY: Thank you very much. And

         18  I do apologize, Mr. Chairman, for that outburst. But

         19  I'm very happy to be here this morning and I thank

         20  you for the opportunity to be here to testify in

         21  support of this bill. I am here today on behalf of

         22  the Board of Directors of the Harlem Tenant Council

         23  and certainly all of our constituents in the greater

         24  Harlem community and my name is Nellie Hester

         25  Bailey. I am the Executive Director of the Harlem
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          2  Tenants Council. I'm also a proud member of Troops

          3  Out Now Coalition as well as the Rosa Parks 50th

          4  Anniversary Commemoration Committee.

          5                 But again, I am here today to express

          6  my organization and that of all of our constituents,

          7  our unwavering support for the proposed Resolution

          8  1240 proclaiming December 1 as Rosa Parks day. A

          9  resolution submitted no less than by the people's

         10  Councilman, Charles Barron. This resolution will not

         11  only recognize and in trying the legacy of mother

         12  Rosa Parks for her defiance against racial apartheid

         13  down South, but by extension challenged the racial

         14  barriers of up North. The uniqueness of the proposed

         15  resolution, however, is in its provision that

         16  encourages businesses and schools to either close on

         17  December 1 in honor of Mother Parks or to allow

         18  employees and students to take all or part of the

         19  day off in order to organize or participate in City-

         20  wide events and activities dedicated to Mother Parks

         21  and the ongoing struggle of people of color for

         22  civil and human rights in this City and nation.

         23                 New York City despite its tremendous

         24  wealth and reputation of a first class City, is a

         25  City of the minority have's and the majority have
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          2  not's. There are reported to be over 1.6 million New

          3  Yorkers myriad in deep poverty and that number is

          4  growing as reflected in the 38,000 families and

          5  individuals crowded into the City's homeless

          6  shelters on any given night or the 50 percent

          7  joblessness rate among black men. Clearly, we are a

          8  City in crisis and it is one that is growing.

          9                 The City Council must play a role in

         10  bringing the have not's into the bus of economic,

         11  social and political parity. And what better small

         12  step on that road than the unanimous vote of this

         13  body for Resolution 1240. And finally, with respect

         14  to ethnic nationalism that was raised, Rev. Daughtry

         15  explained that, but I think it's important to give

         16  another take on ethnic nationalism as we have seen

         17  it in all ethnic groups in this country. We have

         18  seen it among the Irish and their support for the

         19  liberation of Northern Ireland. We have seen it in

         20  the Jewish ethnic groups in this City and their

         21  unwavering support for the State of Israel.

         22                 It is ethnic nationalism that is

         23  recognized, that is honored and it is no less than

         24  our right as a people to assert our ethnic

         25  nationalism and all that it means, not only with
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          2  respect to the legacy of Mother Parks, but what we

          3  demand as our human rights for that economic, civil,

          4  and justice; that parity that is due to us because

          5  we are tax payers and we built lower Manhattan on

          6  the backs of free black labor that allow this

          7  building to be here today. We were never compensated

          8  for that, but our demand for just compensation is

          9  growing in terms of reparations. We demand that. We

         10  are owed that. And we proudly assert our ethnic

         11  nationalism and on that I join Nana Soul in saying,

         12  Black Power, as we declare Black Power for all

         13  ethnic nationalities in this City and in this

         14  nation.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you. Do we

         16  have a copy of your testimony?

         17                 MS. BAILEY: Yes, I have it.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Just make sure

         19  we have a copy.

         20                 MS. BAILEY: Sure.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I want to make

         22  sure we have a clear record because some day

         23  somebody is going to look back on this and I just

         24  want to make sure everyone is noticed. Next.

         25                 MS. DOWELL: Thank you, Council for

                                                            61

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  having this hearing today. My name is Leilani Dowell

          3  and I'm a National Coordinator with FIST which

          4  stands for Fight Imperialism, Stand Together and it

          5  is a youth organization. I just want to congratulate

          6  the Council on passing this resolution. I'd like to

          7  stress how important this resolution is for young

          8  people. As a National Coordinator, I get to speak to

          9  a lot of youth across the country and particularly

         10  youth of color. One of the experiences or one of the

         11  things that I hear a lot from the youth is that

         12  there is extreme lack of teaching of our history as

         13  people of color in the school system, especially the

         14  public school system throughout the nation.

         15                 It is so important to raise Rosa

         16  Parks. Often Rosa Parks, the name of Rosa Parks

         17  becomes a sentence in the text books and typically

         18  taught only in February during Black History month.

         19  I think that not only it is important to understand

         20  just the history of our people and our struggle, but

         21  also teaching and understanding to young people of

         22  what it takes to create change. I really applaud not

         23  only the idea of honoring Rosa Parks on December 1,

         24  but also the idea of including Rosa Parks in the

         25  curriculum in the schools. I think it is very
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          2  important.

          3                 At the same time, youth throughout

          4  the United States face an ongoing battle and ongoing

          5  struggle 50 years after the beginning of the civil

          6  rights movement. Youth in New York and throughout

          7  the country face and particularly youth of color

          8  face police brutality on the streets. The numbers of

          9  unemployed youth in the United States is at a

         10  staggering level right now and it's continuing to

         11  grow. At the same time as we face unemployment, we

         12  also face a lack of social services of arts,

         13  cultural programs, sports programs, and as an option

         14  we're given military recruiters that follow us

         15  around on our campuses.

         16                 In closing, I'd just like to say that

         17  there is a burgeoning youth movement. The civil

         18  rights struggle has not ended and the youth are

         19  continuing that struggle. It's so important that

         20  they learn from the legacy of Rosa Parks and others

         21  like her. I just want to thank you so much for

         22  having this hearing and congratulate you on passing

         23  the resolution.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you for

         25  your testimony and after listening to you, what I'm
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          2  going to do by the end of close today, I'm going to

          3  have a letter sent off to Chancellor Klein

          4  requesting that on December 1 in the schools they

          5  have a lesson about Rosa Parks or they have special

          6  assemblies in schools about Rosa Parks in telling

          7  the children what happened on this day back in 1955.

          8  I will get a letter off and we have your address. We

          9  will make sure that you get a copy of it. We will

         10  send a letter by the end of today to Chancellor

         11  Klein requesting that because I think he has to hear

         12  it. Yes, Mr. Barron?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Only if you

         14  could just include in that letter, if they can't do

         15  that, then allow the children to be released early

         16  to go to some of our commemorative events as well.

         17  If they can do that, that will be excellent. If they

         18  can't, just allow the children to be released early

         19  and go to commemorative events. But I also wanted to

         20  say to you, I appreciate your presentation, your

         21  testimony. And I want you to join me if you can call

         22  my office. I will talk to you afterwards because we

         23  do have a bill on prohibiting military recruitment

         24  on high school campuses. We have a bill that's in

         25  the Education Committee right now. I'd like to get
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          2  with you because I'm talking to the Chair of that

          3  Committee if she can get my bill to have a hearing

          4  on that, that would be excellent. That's Eva

          5  Moskowitz of the Education Committee. It's in

          6  Committee now and we're trying to get a hearing on

          7  it so we can get it voted out of Committee.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Mr. Barron, if

          9  it was my Committee, I would give you a hearing.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I know you

         11  would. I wish it was.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: My philosophy is

         13  whether you agree or disagree, I believe everyone

         14  should be heard.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: That's right.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: That's what a

         17  democratic society is all about whether you agree or

         18  disagree, people should be able to voice their

         19  opinion and listen and work together. That's what is

         20  going to make us a better City. Next.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you, Mr.

         22  Chair.

         23                 MR. LANGLEY: Thank you. I want to

         24  applaud the Council for passing this resolution. I

         25  thank Chairman Recchia, Council Member Clarke and of
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          2  course the people's Mayor, Charles Barron. I want to

          3  speak today as a veteran and a GI counsellor, a

          4  third generation Navy veteran. I work with

          5  counseling veterans in military families and members

          6  of the military now and everyday I'm talking to

          7  families who are wondering why their sons and

          8  daughters have been sent to die for a lie. I talked

          9  to young people in the military who want to come

         10  home and who are wondering what we can do to stop

         11  this.

         12                 We read the newspapers and watch the

         13  news and every day young people are dying. Largely,

         14  people from poor communities and communities of

         15  color. It is clear that we need to look to some new

         16  leadership and some new examples. This is why as a

         17  veteran activist, Rosa Parks day is so important to

         18  me. Rosa Parks showed that we can't wait for

         19  politicians in Washington, D.C., to make the change

         20  that we have to take action ourselves to make the

         21  change. Her action did that. It launched a movement

         22  that shook Jim Crow. It helped launched Martin

         23  Luther King to prominence who as others have spoke

         24  about drew the links between poverty, racism and

         25  war.
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          2                 That's why in the next couple of

          3  weeks, I'm going to be doing everything I can to

          4  mobilize veterans and military families and active

          5  duty members of the military to turn out on behalf

          6  of our 2,100 sisters and brothers in the military

          7  who have died in Iraq. On behalf of our other 1,000

          8  sisters and brothers among the Iraqi people who have

          9  died in this war. It is so important that we

         10  mobilize. That's why I will be marching and rallying

         11  on December 1. Not just as a memorial to Rosa Parks,

         12  but to march with Charles Barron, Larry Holmes, Nana

         13  Soul to do our part to build a movement against

         14  poverty racism and war.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 MS. CRUZ: Hi, my name is Mia Cruz and

         18  I'm also part of FIST with Leilani. On December 1,

         19  I'm planning a strike from my school which includes

         20  a walk out, two marches and a rally and in one of

         21  our marches, we're going to be marching down to Wall

         22  Street to join the bigger crowd. My rally is going

         23  to take place at Union Square.

         24                 I just want to say that December 1

         25  isn't the only reason that we need this. Like
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          2  December 1, Rosa Parks day is not the only reason we

          3  need this; because things like FEMA is doing like

          4  evacuating those people out. I go to James Baldwin

          5  High School. It's a new school. It just started this

          6  year; it's a charter school. December 1 is the

          7  anniversary of his death. Originally, I talked to my

          8  school about this strike. At first I wasn't going to

          9  tell them because during the first day of shock and

         10  all, we organized (I lived in California), we

         11  organized a walk out. We had a 180 students walk out

         12  of the classrooms and sit around the flag pole that

         13  day.

         14                 That day, we kind of told the

         15  teachers. When we got outside, it was swarming with

         16  cops and they all said that they are going to

         17  suspend us. If we step out of line, they would

         18  arrest us, whatever. So we tried to keep this one

         19  silent from the teachers so there wouldn't be a

         20  swarm of cops when we're trying to march out. Now

         21  one of my teachers was talking about how we should

         22  stand up for our rights. So I told them about this

         23  day. They said that they can organize the teachers

         24  and students to walk out with us. And the students

         25  that decide they don't want to go, they will have a
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          2  day of learning why they don't want to go. Why they

          3  are saying no to whatever reason they don't want to

          4  walk out with us for.

          5                 Recently, they are backing out on

          6  this. They are saying that they don't want to get in

          7  trouble with the people that sponsor our school.

          8  They don't want to lose their jobs. I'm saying that

          9  we need this day so then they can walk out and they

         10  can show and protest that they are for this day.

         11  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

         13  much. Like I said, I will get a letter off to

         14  Chancellor Klein. Next panel.

         15                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: The next panel

         16  will have Denise Outram representing Manhattan

         17  Borough President, Virginia Fields; Monica

         18  Moorehead, Erik- Anders Nilsson, Geoffery Blank.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Before you start

         20  testifying, the people's Mayor, Charles Barron would

         21  like to say something. Charles.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I just wanted

         23  to say that from the last testimony, we see the

         24  importance of getting that letter and I'm glad you

         25  brought it up to Chancellor Klein so that the
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          2  students can opt out of school for that day and be

          3  able to attend events with impunity and not have to

          4  be punished. That was the spirit of why we did the

          5  resolution like this because some students are going

          6  to come anyway and rather than there be conflict and

          7  threatened suspensions and teachers who want to

          8  support it, it will be important for the Chancellor

          9  to say that all right, you can have an opportunity

         10  to do that and we will even give you extra credit if

         11  you can essay on it or we can make it a positive

         12  thing. It doesn't have to be negative. I think for

         13  young people who want to participate in civil action

         14  like that and to raise their consciousness around

         15  civil rights and things of that nature, I think can

         16  be a very positive thing. We will get that letter

         17  out as soon as possible so we can have a positive

         18  day.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Council Member

         20  Charles Barron, thank you.

         21                 MS. MOOREHEAD: I want to thank the

         22  people's Mayor, like everyone else, Council Member

         23  Charles Barron and the other courageous City Council

         24  people for hosting this historic public hearing and

         25  also for this Committee passing unanimously this
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          2  wonderful resolution.

          3                 My name is Monica Moorehead. I am

          4  with the Rosa Parks 50th Anniversary Coalition and

          5  as a member of the Program Committee of this

          6  Coalition, I would really like to extend an

          7  invitation for the City Council people to be with us

          8  on Thursday, December 1, starting at 3:00 p.m. to

          9  speak at the rally. You will all be getting an

         10  invitation for this.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: If you could get

         12  me that information on November 30, we have a stated

         13  Council meeting, I will see to it that each member

         14  has placed on his or her desk the flyer with all the

         15  information.

         16                 MS. MOOREHEAD: Okay. And I also

         17  brought invitations today. I'll leave some of those

         18  with you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: We'll get the

         20  word out.

         21                 MS. MOOREHEAD: Okay. I stand here or

         22  sit here before you today as someone who was born in

         23  the segregated South. In fact, my parents moved from

         24  Tuscaloosa, Alabama, where I was born to Montgomery

         25  in 1954 when I was two years old. One year later,
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          2  they along with 40,000 other black people in

          3  Montgomery got swept up into the bus boycott,

          4  sparked by the heroic actions of the great Rosa

          5  Parks.

          6                 My mother, Consuela Lee, who is

          7  approaching her 80th birthday was unable to travel

          8  here from Snow Hill, Alabama to speak for herself.

          9  So I am proudly sitting here to speak on her behalf

         10  in supporting the December 1 Rosa Parks resolution.

         11  Before I read her statement, I just want to mention

         12  that my mother has spent the last 26 years in the

         13  Alabama Black Belt, bringing both education and

         14  African American culture to black children who are

         15  still living in apartheid like conditions in

         16  Alabama's poorest county, which is Wilcox county.

         17                 My mother is my personal Rosa Parks.

         18  At the age of 12, I witnessed her being "escorted"

         19  out of a white only bathroom in Talladega, Alabama

         20  by a white policeman. So like so many other unknown

         21  black women who risk their lives to stand up for

         22  human dignity and for social justice, I really sit

         23  here again proudly to represent my mother's words.

         24  And I just should also mention that on December 5,

         25  which is really the 50th anniversary of when the
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          2  boycott actually began, my mother along with other

          3  black women from Alabama, Mississippi, Georgia will

          4  be honored at a ceremony for their self- sacrificing

          5  work with children by the Southern Rural Black

          6  Women's Initiative Cultural Heritage Committee of

          7  the Federation of Child Care Centers of Alabama at

          8  the Rosa Parks Museum in Montgomery. So I will be

          9  traveling there to witness this and to video tape it

         10  for prosperity.

         11                 Now I would like to read my mother's

         12  statement for this meeting. My husband, Isaac T.

         13  Moorehead, and I were employed at Alabama State

         14  College in Montgomery in 1955 when Rosa Parks made

         15  her historic courageous stand (or should I say sit-

         16  in) on the Montgomery City Transit bus. We owned a

         17  car, but with us both being black southerners, we

         18  still knew firsthand the humiliation and utter

         19  disrespect of racism we had to endure when traveling

         20  by bus, train or car throughout the South. It's hard

         21  to put into words the pure elation we felt when we

         22  heard that Mrs. Parks would not move back further on

         23  that bus in order to allow a white man to have her

         24  seat.

         25                 We felt liberated at the time. We
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          2  became involved in an organized effort to transport

          3  our people who refused to ride the segregated buses,

          4  to work and to shop during the boycott. When the

          5  boycott claimed success, at last we would be

          6  afforded our choice of seats on vehicles of mass

          7  transportation in Alabama. Thank you, Rosa Parks,

          8  for being the catalyst in launching a movement to

          9  liberate black people in the South from legal

         10  segregation. I truly hope that the City Council will

         11  do the right thing in passing this resolution in

         12  honor of Mrs. Parks which will also help to shine a

         13  brighter light on the poverty and racism that is

         14  still prevalent not only in Alabama but for the 37

         15  million people who officially live on the poverty

         16  line or below the poverty line throughout the United

         17  States. Sincerely, Consuela Lee, educator, jazz

         18  pianist and composer. Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Tell your mother

         20  we thank her on behalf of the members of the New

         21  York City Council for sending us such a beautiful

         22  letter. Make sure we have a copy. Next.

         23                 MR. BLANK: Hello, my name is Geoffery

         24  Blank and I'm the founder and President of the No

         25  Police State Coalition and it's an honor to be
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          2  before this Committee. I'd like to thank you for

          3  passing the Rosa Parks resolution and for now

          4  sending it to the full City Council.

          5                 Rosa Parks was always a great

          6  influence and inspiration on me. Earlier people

          7  talked about that Rosa Parks moment and when she sat

          8  in the front of the bus and refused to move, she

          9  spoke out against racism and Jim Crow segregation.

         10  Although I have been influenced by a lot more

         11  dynamic leaders like Malcom X and Che Guevara, when

         12  it actually came down to speaking out against what I

         13  thought was wrong, the war in Iraq, that moment it

         14  was actually Rosa Parks that gave me the inspiration

         15  to do it.

         16                 Unfortunately, a lot of the same

         17  ordinances and permit requirements that were used in

         18  the Jim Crow's South to stifle the civil rights

         19  movement, unfortunately some of them are here in New

         20  York City. When I spoke out against the war in Iraq

         21  on a small ten- watt megaphone without the proper

         22  permit from the police, even though the volume was

         23  very reasonable, I was arrested. Now I'm facing four

         24  years in prison for simply speaking out against the

         25  war.
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          2                 I'm here to urge this Committee and

          3  the Council members here and the City Council as a

          4  whole to repeal or amend the administrative code

          5  that makes it a crime for simply speaking and

          6  exercising your first amendment right. For instance,

          7  if Chairman Recchia, if you were to go outside or to

          8  any City park and whisper the first amendment

          9  through a small amplifier or megaphone, Congress

         10  shall make no law respecting an establishment of

         11  religion, you could be arrested; you could be

         12  prosecuted; you could be thrown in Rikers Island

         13  jail for 90 days. If you would go out and whisper

         14  the importance and significance of Rosa Parks, you

         15  could be arrested. The problem is these ordinances,

         16  they have nothing to do with sound level. They have

         17  nothing to do with the volume level and they give

         18  the police who aren't always so interested in seeing

         19  that freedom of speech and debate is protected, they

         20  give the police unbridled discretion to silence

         21  people saying things that go against the power

         22  structure.

         23                 The same way Bull Connors, and the

         24  other racist in the South were armed with numerous

         25  City legislation which didn't necessarily weren't
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          2  racist on their face, but gave the police

          3  uncontrolled power to arrest civil rights leaders,

          4  people like Fred Shuttlesworth and so on. Most of

          5  the arrests in the South were for parading without a

          6  permit and for illegal assemblies and for

          7  unpermitted picketing. So I've brought for both of

          8  you, Chairman Recchia and Councilman Barron, the

          9  people's Mayor, I've brought a write up and I have

         10  for your aides too of why the administrative code is

         11  unconstitutional and it can be simply fixed just by

         12  amending it to make these permit restrictions not

         13  apply to political speech below a reasonable decibel

         14  level, say 85 decibels. I have for you a write up

         15  that has the exact language of the ordinance and I

         16  have a video which documents the history of the

         17  fight for freedom of speech right here in Union

         18  Square.

         19                 A problem with the civil rights

         20  movement the way we learn it in school is it is

         21  taught to us as if this was some sort of problem

         22  that existed a long time ago far away. It's a lot

         23  harder to sometimes look at ourselves in our own

         24  great City which I love and I know you love, but we

         25  have some of the problems where the same ordinances
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          2  are being used and abused to stifle speech that goes

          3  against the war. For instance, I wouldn't be here, I

          4  wouldn't be in court on Monday, November 28 if I was

          5  speaking out in favor of George Bush. Everyone in

          6  this room knows that. Everyone in the country, I've

          7  spoke through conservative neighborhoods in Staten

          8  Island and New Jersey, everyone agrees I wouldn't

          9  have been arrested if I spoke out in favor of the

         10  war.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: If you give us a

         12  copy of the administrative code that you think

         13  should be amended, I will take it under advisement.

         14  I will look at it and forward it on to the proper

         15  committee in the City Council and we will see if we

         16  can move forward with that.

         17                 MR. BLANK: Great.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: We will take a

         19  look at it and I'm sure my colleague, Charles Barron

         20  and I will look at it and see.

         21                 MR. BLANK: I have stuff for you right

         22  here.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Okay.

         24                 MR. BLANK: If possible, I would

         25  appreciate if you could write a letter to the DA and
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          2  ask him to consider dismissing these charges and

          3  this embarrassment to what is suppose to be the

          4  center of democracy, the home of the UN.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Why don't we

          6  discuss this at the conclusion of this hearing?

          7                 MR. BLANK: Great

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: We will talk to

          9  you.

         10                 MR. BLANK: Should I give this to you

         11  now?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I would ask one

         13  of the Sergeant of Arms to give us a copy of that,

         14  please. Do you have any anything else to say?

         15                 MR. BLANK: Thank you so much for

         16  everything.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you. Next

         18  speaker.

         19                 MR. NILSSON: Hi, my name is Erik-

         20  Anders Nilsson. I'm here as a proud member of the

         21  Troops Out Now Coalition and as a member of the

         22  Jersey City Peace Movement. As a white male, today

         23  I'm symbolically giving up my chair, my seat as I

         24  give testimony to Mrs. Rosa Parks in her memory.

         25  I'll be very brief. All the other speakers have
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          2  spoken so eloquently. Thank you Council Member

          3  Barron and thank you to the City Council for all

          4  your work and thank you for passing so expeditiously

          5  Resolution 1240.

          6                 Jersey City Peace Movement represents

          7  240,000 members of Jersey City. We have many members

          8  that are active in Jersey City Peace Movement. We

          9  were one of the first City Council's to pass an

         10  anti- war resolution. I'm proud that New York is one

         11  of the first City Council's to pass this resolution

         12  honoring the memory of Ms. Rosa Parks. I certainly

         13  hope that everyone will be out there on December 1

         14  to honor the 50th anniversary of Ms. Rosa Parks

         15  arrest and to fight against poverty, racism, and

         16  war. Thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Thank you very

         18  much for testifying.

         19                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Yes, now

         20  representing Manhattan Borough President, Virginia

         21  Fields, Denise Outram.

         22                 MS. OUTRAM: Thank you very much. Good

         23  afternoon Council Member Recchia, Chairman Recchia

         24  and Council Member Barron. I'm very sorry that the

         25  Borough President couldn't be here in person. As you
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          2  may know, she is down in New Orleans rendering some

          3  of her expertise and knowledge to the many problems

          4  that are going on down there and was not able to be

          5  here today.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I think they

          7  need her more down there than we need her up here to

          8  testify. Of course, there is a lot of work to be

          9  done down there.

         10                 MS. OUTRAM: Yes. She did insist that

         11  I get over here and make certain that I come over

         12  and express our support for this resolution in honor

         13  of Rosa Parks. Thank you for the resolution to honor

         14  the late Rosa Parks by proclaiming December 1 as

         15  Rosa Parks day. I welcome the opportunity to testify

         16  in support of this legislation.

         17                 I am a daughter of Birmingham,

         18  Alabama. I was raised in the segregated South. When

         19  Rosa Parks refused to give up her seat on a

         20  Montgomery bus, as was the law of the land in

         21  Alabama, 40 years ago, to this young girl at the

         22  time, it was the equivalent of the shot heard round

         23  the world, fired at Concord Bridge during the

         24  American Revolution. Rosa's courageous act strongly

         25  reinforced a principle my mother instilled in her
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          2  five children. That principle was to know what is

          3  right and to stand up for your rights. So Rosa Parks

          4  by sitting down, stood up for her rights, and for

          5  the rights of every African American from toddlers

          6  to seniors who had been demeaned and insulted and

          7  forced to endure second class citizenship.

          8                 Rosa Parks non- violent act became a

          9  resounding statement that triggered the 361 day

         10  Montgomery bus boycott led by a 26- year- old

         11  Baptist minister, the Rev. Martin Luther King, Jr.

         12  Can you imagine the impact of this polite defiance

         13  on a young girl already well experienced in the

         14  strict code of conduct imposed by a biased society?

         15  We lived near the church of Rev. Fred Shuttlesworth,

         16  a frequent target of racist bombings so that the

         17  consequences of a wrong word or gesture were always

         18  foremost in our minds.

         19                 But on December 1, 1955, a half-

         20  century ago, Rosa Parks, a gentle woman of heroic

         21  courage and character, active in the Montgomery

         22  NAACP branch, was tried after a day's work. Beyond

         23  that, she said in 1992, the real reason was I felt I

         24  had a right to be treated as any other passenger. We

         25  had endured that kind of treatment for too long. For
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          2  this challenge to the status quo, Rosa Parks was

          3  jailed, and fined $14.00. Thirty years later she

          4  observed, at the time I was arrested I had no idea

          5  it would turn into this. It was just a day like any

          6  other day. The only thing that made it significant

          7  was that the masses of the people joined in. Well,

          8  I'd say that the modest Rosa Parks had an

          9  extraordinary gift for understatement.

         10                 Her refusal to bend her knee and bow

         11  her head had a particular resonance for me and was

         12  another impetus that led me to volunteer with Dr.

         13  King and his non- violent campaign for social

         14  justice, equality and civil rights gathered momentum

         15  and support. Yes, as a teenager, I marched with him.

         16  I experienced the vicious hostility of Bull Connors,

         17  the police force and the bigots of Birmingham. And

         18  so I have often wondered; what if Rosa Parks had

         19  moved to the back of the bus. That watershed moment

         20  could well have been deferred to another day or not

         21  happened at all and that would have altered the

         22  course of history and resulted in a different time

         23  table and outcome for the civil rights movement.

         24                 But Rosa held her ground and by

         25  example, breathed new life into the fledgling civil
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          2  rights movement. And seven and a half years later,

          3  in August 1963, 200,000 Americans from every corner

          4  of our nation gathered peacefully together on the

          5  mall in Washington, D.C., to demand and support

          6  equality, civil rights and social justice. Many

          7  African American and other leaders and elected

          8  officials spoke. But it was Dr. King's, I have a

          9  dream speech that struck a responsive chord among

         10  people of good will throughout the world and still

         11  resounds wherever people struggle for freedom.

         12                 Yes, Rosa Parks day is an idea whose

         13  time has come. Her death gave us pause to recall and

         14  reflect on her contribution to civil rights and to

         15  the contributions of the hundreds upon hundreds of

         16  Americans who have proudly stood up to be counted

         17  and heard in the name of freedom. I believe New York

         18  City should lead the way in honoring the memory of a

         19  small, self- effacing woman who has cast a giant

         20  shadow on the screen of the 21st century. I would

         21  hope that New Yorkers will join in respectful

         22  recognition of this civil rights pioneer. I would

         23  urge our educators to offer special tributes to her

         24  and encourage our children, all of our children, to

         25  learn from her principled life.
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          2                 Again, I thank you for proposing

          3  December 1 as Rosa Parks day. I look forward to

          4  participating in a ceremony honoring her and I would

          5  further propose action to assure that this

          6  commemoration not be confined to New York City, but

          7  take root in our state and across the nation. This

          8  is only right and proper. A national tribute is the

          9  minimum acknowledgment of what the life of Rosa

         10  Parks represents. Again, I thank you for the

         11  opportunity to express Borough President Fields

         12  support for this resolution.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: We thank you for

         14  testifying on her behalf and tell the Borough

         15  President we appreciate her remarks and wish her the

         16  best of luck in New Orleans and doing the people's

         17  work.

         18                 MS. OUTRAM: Thank you very much.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Mr. Chairman,

         20  if I may?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: Yes, Mr. Barron.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: The Borough

         23  President has been in constant contact with me

         24  during her time in New Orleans and she said that she

         25  definitely wanted to be here and her excitement
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          2  about this, her commitment to this was evident even

          3  though she was down in New Orleans and dealing with

          4  something far, I mean extremely challenging. She was

          5  saying that she can't wait to get back and she is

          6  going to get with us to let us know what's happening

          7  about the right to return and the rights of their

          8  own property.

          9                 She is dealing with some critical

         10  issues. I wanted to commend her on record and

         11  publicly for her great leadership in taking the lead

         12  and going down to New Orleans and doing some things,

         13  but also not forgetting of this important day for us

         14  here by having her testimony here even though she is

         15  involved in some very, very critical work. I thank

         16  you for your testimony.

         17                 MS. OUTRAM: Thank you very much. I

         18  will let her know.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: I also want to

         20  thank everyone for coming today. I want to thank the

         21  staff at the Cultural Affairs Committee, Mari De

         22  Pedro, my attorney; Rick Arbelo who was my policy

         23  analyst. He will be moving onto Housing and

         24  Buildings. We appreciate and we thank you for your

         25  work over the years. We look forward to your
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          2  continued work on behalf of the City Council in the

          3  Housing and Buildings Department. Let's give him a

          4  round of applause. I'd also like to thank my

          5  financial analyst, Jay Kerring (phonetic) who is

          6  with us today and Josh and Karen from my staff. Last

          7  but not least from Charles Barron staff, Joy, thank

          8  you for working so nicely and closely with my staff.

          9

         10                 At this time the resolution like I

         11  said will be out of Committee and will go to the

         12  full Council on November 30, and it will be signed

         13  by the Mayor. This meeting is adjourned.

         14                 (Hearing concluded at 1:15 p.m.)
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